FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 4/5/2023 2:00 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/5/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 56257-0-II

101864-9

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JASON BUCKHOLTZ, as Personal Representative of the Estate of DENNIS G. WOODRUFF,

Petitioner,

v.

ZIDELL EXPLORATIONS, INC.,

Respondent,

and

PORT OF TACOMA,

Defendant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Jason Buckholtz, the personal representative of the Estate of Dennis G. Woodruff ("Estate"), asks this Court to accept review of the decision designated in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division II filed its opinion on January 24, 2023, reversing a nearly \$9.5 million judgment on the verdict of the jury (\$11,216,056 actual verdict, less offsets) because the trial court gave a permissive adverse inference instruction modelled on the criminal pattern instructions for missing witnesses for Zidell's Exploration, Inc.'s ("Zidell") egregious discovery violations. The opinion is in the appendix. Both parties moved for reconsideration. Division II denied both motions. That order is in the appendix.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did Division II articulate an incorrect test for spoliation of evidence in overturning the trial court's extensive findings and conclusions documenting Zidell's intentional destruction of relevant evidence? 2. Did Division II err in failing to determine that the trial court properly exercised its discretion when it gave a permissive adverse inference instruction for Zidell's willful discovery misconduct, apart from its spoliation of evidence?

3. Did Division II err in intruding upon the trial court's exercise of its wide discretion in selecting the sanction for Zidell's discovery violations?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Division II opinion outlines the facts and procedure in this case. Op. 2-14. However, several facts bear supplemental emphasis.

Dennis Woodruff died of mesothelioma, a terminal cancer of the lung lining caused by asbestos exposure. RP 397, 399-40. Dennis's most significant asbestos exposures occurred while working at Zidell Dismantling ("ZD") in Tacoma between 1970 and 1973. RP 400.¹

¹ Dennis's medical expert, Andrew Churg, MD, Ph.D. testified that Dennis's work at Zidell was "definitely a contributing cause" to the development of his disease. RP 969. Zidell did not challenge Dr. Churg's medical opinion that Dennis's mesothelioma was caused by his asbestos exposure at Zidell. *See* RP 973 (only four questions on cross).

ZD's Port of Tacoma site was replete with asbestos affecting workers there.² Dennis saw white insulation he understood to be asbestos pipe covering. RP 414-15. He described conditions aboard ships as "dusty" and "dirty" such that he could see the dust in the air on occasion. RP 417. Aerial photographs of Zidell's Port of Tacoma site depict "abundant scrap and debris piles from ship dismantling operations" strewn about. Ex. 109.

Environmental studies performed decades later depicted the ubiquity of asbestos at the ZD site. A 1982 Historic Land Use Survey prepared by the Department of Ecology described debris unburied through excavation that included car bodies, tanks, bunker fuel oil, and asbestos. Ex. 128a; RP 645. In 1998, a Pre-Remedial Design Study prepared for the Port of Tacoma in 1998

² Zidell conceded that it knew, as of the early 1970s, that asbestos was hazardous to human health. RP 526–27. Moreover, Zidell certainly knew that asbestos was used on Navy ships, including ships that it purchased. RP 525. Zidell also knew that asbestos insulation materials would be part of the dismantling process and that asbestos was hazardous. RP 526-27.

noted that "[w]aste petroleum, PCBs, and asbestos were generated" from Zidell's activities between 1960 through 1984. Ex. 127a; RP 649. And in 2000, an Engineering Evaluation / Cost Analysis Report found ten soil samples that were all positive for asbestos, with concentrations ranging from .38 to 2.3 percent by weight. Ex. 126a; RP 657–58. Samples taken in the embankment boreholes contained asbestos concentrations as high as 80 percent by volume. Ex. 126a; RP 658.

It is *undisputed* that neither Zidell nor ZD warned Dennis of the hazards of asbestos exposure or the need to take precautions to protect himself against it, such as wearing an appropriate respirator. RP 417-418, 424-25, 454, 527, 673, 833-34, 897; Ex. 121.

Critical to Dennis's case against Zidell was the locale of where he worked at ZD's Port of Tacoma site, i.e., the ships on which he worked *and* who owned them. For example, Dennis recalled working on Liberty ships, Victory ships, and aircraft carriers, including the *USS Philippine Sea*, in particular. RP 401. Dennis indicated that he spent "maybe five months" working on that ship; it "felt like a long time" to him. RP 425.

ZD scrapped ships at its Port of Tacoma facility, but Zidell purchased and owned at least some of the ships being dismantled, including the USS Philippine Sea. A critical exhibit on this issue was the belatedly disclosed document detailing a 1969 ZD board of directors special meeting, wherein its board purported to determine that "the purchase of vessels for dismantling would thereafter be made by ZIDELL DISMANTLING, INC. rather than by ZIDELL EXPLORATIONS, INC." CP 1680; Ex. 304 (emphasis in original). The document confirmed that Zidell owned *all* the vessels dismantled by ZD at least prior to 1969. However, the USS Philippine Sea cruise book demonstrated that Zidell continued purchasing vessels for ZD even after 1969, stating that the ship was "sold for scrap 23 March 1971 to Zidell Explorations, Inc., of Portland, Oregon." Ex. 303; RP 531. Zidell's corporate representative confirmed that neither ZD nor Zidell had any records regarding the purchase and sale of the *Philippine Sea*, or title documents for any ship whatsoever during that time period. RP 528, 532.

Discovery on the identity and ownership of ships dismantled at the Port of Tacoma on or near which Dennis worked was critical.³ On October 16, 2020, Dennis served his first discovery requests on both Zidell and ZD, requesting "all transactional or corporate documents" between the Zidell companies. Zidell objected, claiming that such documents "have no bearing on this action and would not lead to the discovery of admissible evidence." CP 1533–34, 1578, 1596. Zidell later produced a list of ships dismantled in Tacoma, supplemented on February 10, 2021, with a list of ships dismantled by *both* companies. CP 1533–34, 1593.

On May 3, 2021, Zidell produced the board meeting document *after* Dennis had already deposed Zidell's CR 30(b)(6)

³ The trial court granted a priority trial setting, pursuant to RCW 4.44.025 based on Dennis' terminal diagnosis. The priority trial date gave Dennis only six months to discover evidence necessary for trial preparation.

representative, William Gobel,⁴ and just two hours after Kathryn Silva's deposition where she verified under oath as Zidell's general counsel the accuracy and completeness of its discovery responses. CP 4623–24 (FF 2), CP 1598. Importantly, Gobel had no knowledge of the steps taken to respond to Dennis's discovery requests, despite that being an express topic on the CR 30(b)(6) notice. CP 1630–31, 1648–49. The trial court found that the 1969 board meeting document was responsive to Dennis's discovery requests. CP 4623 (FF 2).

Given Zidell's actions, Dennis filed a CR 37(b) motion for sanctions based upon its willful discovery rules violation, including the failure to conduct a reasonable injury to locate responsive documents, failure to prepare its CR 30(b)(6) designee, and belated disclosure of the board meeting document. CP 1540– 43. While the motion was pending, the trial court ordered a second Silva deposition expressly to allow Dennis to "capably explore the

⁴ Gobel served as the CR 30(b)(6) representative for *both* ZD and Zidell. CP 1609.

reasons behind the delay of that disclosure" of the board meeting document. CP 4623 (FF 3); RP 11.

During that deposition, Silva acknowledged that she discovered the board meeting document during the week of April 6, 2021; that her responsibility was to help prepare Gobel, as Zidell's CR 30(b)(6) designee, for deposition the following week; and that she did not show the board meeting document to Gobel. CP 4624 (FF 5).

Silva testified that she did not request *any documents* from Zidell's offsite storage facility when she was responding to Dennis's first discovery requests in December 2020, and that she requested just three boxes of documents when responding to subsequent requests in February 2021. CP 4627 (FF 19), CP 1581–83, CP 1598 (Silva's verification of responses). The trial court found that "[t]here has never been any showing in this case that anybody from Zidell ever went to the storage facility and performed any kind of search of the documents in response to Plaintiff's discovery requests. ... [Silva] simply looked at an index." CP 4627–28 (FF 20); *see also*, CP 1550–51 (detailing questions raised by belated disclosure of board meeting document).

ZD/Zidell co-mingled business records; Silva testified that, at the time of her deposition, she "represent[ed] all of the current Zidell entities," including Zidell, CP 1669, verifying under oath *both* ZD/Zidell's discovery responses as general counsel for both. CP 1589, 1598. Corporate records for all Zidell entities were housed in file cabinets at ZD's office or in boxes at an offsite storage facility. CP 1670. Indeed, Silva stated that a "very limited amount" of business records could still be found at these locations today. CP 1671.

As early as the 1990s, the Zidell companies knew that their dismantling facilities in Tacoma and Portland "were going to be the subject of prolonged environmental cleanup litigation," and in 1997, Zidell filed a lawsuit against its insurer seeking coverage for environmental liability arising out of its ship dismantling facilities. CP 4625 (FF 7, 9). By 2002, the Zidell companies knew that they faced potential liability in toxic tort actions and that, given the nature of this type of litigation, such actions would go on for a long time. CP 4625–26 (FF 11).

During her deposition, Silva testified on the origin of two documents containing information regarding specific ships dismantled at both ZD in Tacoma and Zidell in Portland, collectively, "the ship lists." CP 4624–25 (FF 6). Outside counsel generated these ship lists for a 1997 Oregon insurance coverage lawsuit Zidell filed regarding environmental liabilities from its ship dismantling facilities. CP 1962, 1987–88. That counsel relied on company records to generate the lists to advance Zidell's litigation objectives; this information could have come *only* from Zidell's business records. CP 1962, 2071–72, 2077– 78.

When the ship lists were compiled, Zidell also faced pending asbestos personal injuries lawsuits. CP 1963, 2075. Zidell Valve ("ZV"), a Zidell division, was previously sued in asbestos exposure litigation sometime around 1997. CP 1960, 2036, 2038. Testifying as legal counsel to "all of the current Zidell entities," CP 1669, Silva admitted under oath that Zidell understood it had an obligation to retain documents potentially relevant in future litigation. CP 2012.

Silva admitted that the documents used to create the ship lists no longer exist. CP 1962, 2100–01. CP 1961, 2008. In conjunction with the transfer of its historic ship records to a new storage company in 2017, Zidell ordered the destruction of an unknown quantity of those records, anywhere from 10% or 90% of the company's records. CP 1961–62, 2013–16. Silva herself authorized the destruction of 20 boxes of litigation materials without even reviewing them first. CP 1961, 2019–21. Zidell took no steps to digitize any of the documents before they were destroyed. CP 1961, 2052.

Dennis filed another discovery sanctions motion, supplementing it with additional authority relevant to Zidell's spoliation. CP 1540–43, 1960–64. Dennis asked the trial court to either enter a default judgment or instruct the jury to accept as true the contested fact at issue: that the ships Dennis worked aboard were owned by Zidell. CP 1532; RP 57. The trial court entered *extensive* findings (*see* Appendix) determining that Zidell's discovery misconduct and spoliation were both willful and substantially prejudiced Dennis's ability to prepare for trial, a prejudice that was "compounded ... by the fact that the plaintiff is dying and urgently wants his day in court." CP 4630 (CL 8, 10), RP 206. The court found an adverse inference instruction to be appropriate, CP 4633 (CL 19), but declined to instruct the jury that it must accept as true that Zidell owned the ships and denied a default judgment. CP 4633 (CL 18); RP 209.

The court's adverse inference instruction, Instruction 30 (see Appendix), was relevant to Zidell's conduct constituting spoliation and its other discovery violations. RP 1102, 1215. Modeled on the criminal missing witness instruction, WPIC 5.20, the instruction told the jury that it *may* draw an adverse inference only if Dennis established five factual elements. RP 1102, 1152; CP 4592. The jury had to find all five elements:

- 1. The records were within the control of, and particularly available to, Zidell;
- 2. The issue on which the records relate was an issue of fundamental importance, rather than one that was trivial or insignificant;
- 3. As a matter of reasonable probability, it appeared naturally in the interest of Zidell to produce those documents;
- 4. There was no satisfactory explanation of why Zidell did not keep and produce those documents; and
- 5. The inference was reasonable in light of all the circumstances.

CP 4952. Division II's opinion did not reference the fact that the jury could not apply an adverse inference unless all five elements had been satisfied. Op. 12–13.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The trial court fashioned the least draconian permissive adverse inference instruction possible as a result of Zidell's discovery misconduct in this expedited case and its inexcusable destruction of business records. Division II overturned a \$9.5 million judgment in the Estate's favor due to its misperception of spoliation principles established by this Court, its failure to honor the trial court's *extensive* findings and conclusions documenting Zidell's repeated discovery violations, apart from its spoliation of evidence, that merited an adverse inference instruction, and its illicit intrusion upon the trial court's *expansive* discretion over the assessment of discovery sanctions. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

 <u>Division II Applied an Improper Spoliation Standard</u> In addressing spoliation, Division II erroneously added a third distinct element to this Court's two-part test for spoliation.
 Op. 20, 22-24. That was error.

Spoliation is "[t]he intentional destruction of evidence." *Henderson v. Tyrrell*, 80 Wn. App. 592, 605, 910 P.2d 522 (1996) (quoting BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1401 (6th ed. 1990)). Historically, the issue was as an evidentiary matter, with the common remedy being an inference "that the adversary's conduct may be considered generally as tending to corroborate the proponent's case and to discredit that of the adversary." *Id.*; *see also, Pier 67, Inc. v. King County*, 89 Wn.2d 379, 385–86, 573

P.2d 2 (1977); *Marshall v. Bally's Pacwest, Inc.*, 94 Wn. App. 372, 381, 972
P.2d 475 (1999) ("To remedy spoliation the court may apply a rebuttable presumption").

In early spoliation cases, courts examined two factors: "(1) the potential importance or relevance of the missing evidence; and (2) the culpability or fault of the adverse party." *Marshall*, 94 Wn. App. at 381. Culpability turned on whether the party acted in bad faith, whether the party had a duty to preserve evidence, and whether the party knew that the evidence was important to pending litigation. Homeworks Const., Inc. v. Wells, 133 Wn. App. 892, 900, 138 P.3d 654 (2006); Marshall, 94 Wn. App. at 382. Critically, not every factor need be shown to establish culpability. In *Homeworks*, Division II recognized that spoliation could exist even without a finding of bad faith where there was a duty to preserve the evidence. Id. at 900. This duty is not a general one to preserve evidence; rather, "the duty can arise from other sources." J.K. by Wolf v. Bellevue Sch. Dist. No. 405, 20 Wn. App. 2d 291, 308, 500 P.3d 138 (2021).

In some cases courts have treated the duty to preserve evidence as a third distinct prong of the spoliation test. *Ripley v. Lanzer*, 152 Wn. App. 296, 326–27, 215 P.3d 1020 (2009); *Homeworks, supra; Tavai v. Walmart Stores, Inc.*, 176 Wn. App. 122, 136, 307 P.3d 811 (2013); *Cook v. Tarbert Logging, Inc.*, 190 Wn. App. 448, 464, 360 P.3d 855 (2015), *review denied*, 185 Wn.2d 1014 (2016).

This Court finally resolved the issue – a two-part test governs spoliation. *Henderson v. Thompson*, 200 Wn.2d 417, 441, 518 P.3d 1011 (2022). But any "duty to retain documents" is an aspect of the culpability analysis, not a distinct element as Division II believed. Thus, the *Henderson* court held that where a party intentionally withholds or destroys evidence, a spoliation instruction is appropriate. *Id.* at 1026. The Court *presumed* that a party has an obligation to provide relevant evidence in discovery and to avoid its destruction. In fact, the Court remanded the case to the trial court to consider even harsher sanctions. *Id.* at 1027-28. Similarly, Division II recently upheld trial court rulings on

spoliation in Wash. State Dep't of Transportation v. Seattle Tunnel Partners, 22 Wn. App. 2d 1025, 2022 WL 2132780, review denied, 518 P.3d 210 (2022). The Court's opinion did not indicate that for spoliation to apply, the defending party must have a duty to preserve the evidence. Further documenting the split in the divisions of the Court of Appeals, Division I in Seattle Tunnel Partners v. Great Lake Reinsurance (UK), ___ Wn. App. 2d ___, 2023 WL 2643531 (2023), disregarded its own opinion in J.K., Division II's opinion in its Seattle Tunnel Partners decision, and this Court's Henderson decision to hold that a duty to preserve requirement was a distinct element of the spoliation analysis. This Court needs to resolve the ambiguity in the spoliation analysis. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

Regardless, Dennis established the requisite elements of spoliation here. Here, it is *undisputed* that Zidell committed discovery misconduct by its late disclosure of a critical document, op. 6, but after Silva's second deposition, Dennis provided the Court with supplemental facts and authority, this time encompassing not just Zidell's discovery misconduct but also the destruction of documents amounting to spoliation as well. Op. 7-8; CP 1960–64. Zidell argued to Division II that the trial court abused its discretion in finding spoliation had occurred because it had no pre-litigation duty to preserve records and because no evidence supports the challenged findings. BA 34–52. Zidell is incorrect, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion.

Ship ownership is key to Zidell's liability, particularly where the supplemental evidence—the 1969 board meeting document and the USS Philippine Sea cruise book—indicate that Zidell owned the asbestos-laden ships that caused Dennis' injury. The ship list source documents were generated in toxic tort litigation where Zidell's culpability for asbestos contamination was a central feature. Exs. 126a, 127a, 128a. Liability for environmental contamination must logically and reasonably lead to liability for the injuries suffered by individuals exposed to that contamination. See, e.g., Key Tronic Corp. v. Aetna (CIGNA) Fire Underwriters Ins. Co., 124 Wn.2d 618, 621, 881 P.2d 201 (1994) (describing numerous third-party suits for personal injuries resulting from groundwater contamination due to leaching of waste chemicals).

As for insurance coverage, no insurer would pay for asbestos contamination caused by Zidell ships unless ZD or Zidell owned them. The ship lists include a purchase price for every ship. Ex. 111. A jury could reasonably infer that documents showing purchase price would also show the purchaser. Silva testified the ship lists could *only* have been made using the destroyed business records. CP 1962, 2071-72, 2077-78, 2100-01. Silva testified that Zidell litigated coverage with its own insurers related to environmental liabilities from its dismantling operations and faced pending lawsuits brought by individuals alleging injury from asbestos exposure at the time the ship lists were created, including a specific 1997 action brought against ZV, a Zidell division. CP 1960, 1963, 2036, 2038, 2075.

The trial court properly imputed ZV's knowledge to Zidell. See, e.g., Doe v. Unocal Corp., 248 F.3d 915, 928 (9th Cir. 2001) (holding that annual report's references to subsidiaries as "divisions of the parent company" do not establish an alter ego relationship); *Wells Fargo & Co. v. Wells Fargo Exp. Co.*, 556 F.2d 406, 425 (9th Cir. 1977) (holding that a corporation may be "present" in several jurisdictions "by operating 'divisions' there").

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