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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

A. Division Two correctly applied spoliation law. 

If a party intentionally withholds or destroys evidence, the 

trial court may instruct the jury that it may infer that the missing 

evidence would have been unfavorable to the at-fault party.  

Henderson v. Thompson, 200 Wn.2d 417, 441, 518 P.3d 1011 

(2022).  In evaluating a request for an adverse-inference 

instruction, a court considers (1) the potential importance or 

relevance of the missing evidence and (2) the adverse party’s 

culpability.  Id.   
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Division Two concluded that the trial court erred in 

finding culpability because (1) Explorations had no duty to 

preserve documents in anticipation of “vaguely possible future 

litigation” and (2) even if such a duty existed, no evidence 

supported that Explorations consciously disregarded the duty.  

Slip Op. at 22–27.  Nothing about this analysis warrants review.3   

1. A duty to preserve evidence is essential to 
culpability. 

No appellate court, including Division Two here, has 

treated the existence of a duty to preserve evidence as a “third 

distinct prong” of the spoliation test.  Petition at 14.  Nor is duty 

a mere nonessential consideration.  See id. at 15.  Indeed, far 

from a “split in the divisions of the Court of Appeals,” id. at 17, 

 
3 Division Two assumed without deciding that substantial 

evidence supported the finding that the discarded documents 
included ship-ownership information.  Slip Op. at 25 n.6.  
Division Two also did not reach, but expressed skepticism 
regarding, the trial court’s taking of judicial notice that most 
corporations scan historic business records before discarding 
them.  Id. at 26–27.  Granting review would bring up these issues. 
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each division has held that a duty to retain missing evidence is 

essential to culpability.  Seattle Tunnel Partners v. Great Lakes 

Reinsurance (UK) PLC, __ Wn. App. 2d __, 527 P.3d 134, 147–

49 (Div. 1, 2023); Carroll v. Akebono Brake Corp., 22 Wn. App. 

2d 845, 875, 514 P.3d 720 (Div. 1, 2022); J.K. by Wolf v. 

Bellevue Sch. Dist. No. 405, 20 Wn. App. 2d 291, 308, 500 P.3d 

138 (Div. 1, 2021); Cook v. Tarbert Logging, Inc., 190 Wn. App. 

448, 470, 360 P.3d 855 (Div. 3, 2015), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 

1014 (2016); Homeworks Constr., Inc. v. Wells, 133 Wn. App. 

892, 901, 138 P.3d 654 (Div. 3, 2006).   

Division One of the Court of Appeals recently gave two 

compelling reasons for this rule in Seattle Tunnel Partners.   

First, “if the existence of a duty to preserve evidence were 

not a threshold element of the test, and merely a ‘factor to 

consider,’ it would undercut the settled rule that there is no 

general duty to preserve evidence before a lawsuit has been 

filed.”  Seattle Tunnel Partners, 527 P.3d at 148.  As Division 
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One pointed out, Division Three previously held as much in 

Cook, 190 Wn. App. at 470, and this Court cited Cook with 

approval in Henderson.  Seattle Tunnel Partners, 527 P.3d 

at 148; see also Henderson, 200 Wn.2d at 441–42.   

Second, “the existence of a duty inheres in the concept of 

culpability.”  Seattle Tunnel Partners, 527 P.3d at 148.  Division 

One explained: “Each level of culpability recognized in our 

spoliation case law—from intentional or willful misconduct, to 

bad faith, conscious disregard, and negligence—contemplates 

the violation of some duty to preserve that evidence.”  Id.  For 

instance, a party cannot destroy evidence in bad faith unless it 

had a duty to act in good faith.  See id.  Conscious disregard 

likewise presupposes a duty.  See id. at 149. 

Woodruff misreads Henderson.  He asserts this Court held 

that spoliation may be found absent a duty to preserve.  See 

Petition at 16.  But that issue was not before this Court in 

Henderson.  Indeed, this Court did not even use the word duty in 
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its spoliation analysis.  Woodruff points to this Court’s recitation 

of the two-prong test of importance and culpability.  See 

Henderson, 200 Wn.2d at 441.  But that recitation does not 

amount to a rejection—even implicitly—of duty as essential to 

culpability.   

Woodruff observes that this Court “presumed that a party 

has an obligation to provide relevant evidence in discovery and 

to avoid its destruction.” Petition at 16.  But this made sense in 

the context of Henderson sense because the missing surveillance 

evidence was developed specifically for the anticipated litigation 

and some, if not all, still existed during the litigation but was 

never produced.  See Henderson, 200 Wn.2d at 442–43. 

To support his assertion of a “split in the divisions of the 

Court of Appeals,”  Petition at 17, Woodruff contends that 

Division One in Seattle Tunnel Partners “disregarded its own 

opinion” in J.K. by holding that a duty is required.  Petition at 17.  

But instead of disregarding J.K., Division One cited J.K. for that 
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very proposition.  Seattle Tunnel Partners, 527 P.3d at 147 

(citing J.K., 20 Wn. App. 2d at 308).   

And correctly so.  Far from holding in J.K. that a duty need 

not be shown, Division One recognized that, even under a bad-

faith theory of spoliation, “the party must do more than disregard 

the importance of the evidence; the party must also have a duty 

to preserve the evidence.”  J.K., 20 Wn. App. 2d at 308 (quoting 

Homeworks Constr., 133 Wn. App. at 900).  And the court 

concluded that a formal records-retention policy adopted under a 

statute created such a duty.  Id. at 309.   

Woodruff points out that Division Two did not hold that a 

duty is required in Washington State Department of 

Transportation v. Seattle Tunnel Partners, No. 54425-3-II, 2022 

WL 2132780 (unpublished, nonbinding), review denied, 200 

Wn.2d 1011 (2022).  But Division Two did not address duty or 

otherwise reach the merits of spoliation.  It instead held that any 

error in giving an adverse-inference instruction was harmless 
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because the instruction there concerned causation—an issue the 

jury never reached.  Id. at *14–15. 

Because Division Two’s decision here on spoliation does 

not conflict with any appellate decision, review is unwarranted 

under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (b)(2). 

2. Explorations had no duty to preserve documents 
in anticipation of “vaguely possible future 
litigation.” 

Woodruff does not challenge Division Two’s correct 

observation that no general duty exists to preserve evidence in 

anticipation of litigation.  See Slip Op. at 20–24; see also Carroll, 

22 Wn. App. 2d at 865–72.  He challenges only its refusal to hold 

that Explorations was estopped to deny a supposed admission 

that it owed a duty.  But Ms. Silva’s testimony was not a judicial 

admission that Explorations had a duty to preserve evidence in 

anticipation of this litigation.   

To begin, the judicial-admission doctrine applies to 

statements of fact—not law.  See Mukilteo Ret. Apartments, LLC 
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v. Mukilteo Invs., LP, 176 Wn. App. 244, 257 n.8, 310 P.3d 814 

(2013);  29A AM. JUR. 2D EVIDENCE § 767 (updated Feb. 2023).  

The existence of a duty to preserve evidence is a legal question.  

Cook, 190 Wn. App. at 461.  So a statement about that subject is 

not binding.   

No case holds that a party is bound by “recognition” of a 

duty to preserve where none exists.  Petition at 21 (citing J.K., 

20 Wn. App. at 308, 310; and Henderson v. Tyrrell, 80 Wn. App. 

592, 609–11, 910 P.2d 522 (1996)).  The defendant in J.K. 

“acknowledge[d]” a duty because a document-retention policy 

adopted under a statute indisputably imposed a duty.  J.K., 20 

Wn. App. 2d at 310–11.  The Court of Appeals in Tyrrell did not 

address any ostensible recognition of a duty but held that no 

spoliation occurred—even though the plaintiff destroyed the 

involved vehicle despite being “aware” of the potential for 

litigation and being requested to retain the car.  Tyrrell, 80 Wn. 

App. at 609–11.   



 
 
 

ZIDELL EXPLORATIONS, INC.’S  
ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW  
AND CONDITIONAL CROSS-
PETITION – 22  
ZID001-0001 7197798 

 
 

Even setting all that aside, Division Two correctly 

concluded that Silva’s testimony was too vague to be deemed 

binding.  She testified only that she understood generally that 

“retention of documents potentially relevant to litigation is a duty 

that attaches even…before a particular piece of litigation is 

commenced.”  CP 2012.  As Division Two reasoned, “Silva did 

not admit that an entity has a duty to preserve documents simply 

because they might be relevant to some vaguely possible future 

litigation.”  Slip Op. at 24.  Instead, she acknowledged, at most, 

“a potential duty to preserve evidence relating to a specific type 

of anticipated litigation.”  Id.  And “Silva testified that there was 

no litigation or potential litigation at that time,” nearly four 

decades after ship-dismantling ceased.  Id. 

3. Even if a duty to preserve existed, substantial 
evidence does not support that Explorations 
consciously disregarded the duty. 

Even if Division Two got the duty issue wrong, an 

independent alternative ground fully sustains its decision: no 
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evidence supported the finding that Explorations consciously 

disregarded any duty to preserve the ship-list source documents. 

A jury may make an adverse inference because 

intentionally destroying relevant evidence suggests 

“consciousness of a weak cause.”  Tyrrell, 80 Wn. App. at 609.  

“Negligent or even grossly negligent behavior does not logically 

support that inference” because “[i]nformation lost through 

negligence may have been favorable to either party, including the 

party that lost it.”  Cook, 190 Wn. App. at 468.  Inferring that 

evidence was unfavorable to a party that negligently lost or 

discarded evidence “may tip the balance at trial in ways the lost 

information never would have.”  Id.   

Division Two correctly concluded that, “[a]t worst, the 

destruction of the documents was negligent.”  Slip Op. at 26.  The 

court reasoned, “There is no indication that Zidell Explorations 

destroyed the documents in order to avoid future liability or to 

strengthen its position in future litigation.”  Slip Op. at 25.  Given 
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this, the trial court erred in finding spoliation and giving an 

adverse-inference instruction.  Id. 

The trial court found that Explorations “should reasonably 

have known that the evidence might have been relevant to 

anticipated litigation” because an Explorations division had been 

“sued for asbestos exposure in the past.”  CP 4632 (CL 15).  But, 

as Division Two concluded, “Zidell Explorations had never been 

sued regarding asbestos exposure at Zidell Dismantling’s facility 

(or its own facility), and the only asbestos-related lawsuit 

involving a Zidell entity had been filed over 20 years earlier.”  

Slip Op. at 25.  Division Two correctly concluded that substantial 

evidence did not support culpability. 

As for Woodruff’s admonishment that courts should be 

“hesitant to take cases away from juries,” Amended Statement of 

Add’l Auth. at 1–2, this ignores that prejudicial error requires 

reversal, he invited prejudice by urging the jury to reach an 



 
 
 

ZIDELL EXPLORATIONS, INC.’S  
ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW  
AND CONDITIONAL CROSS-
PETITION – 25  
ZID001-0001 7197798 

 
 

adverse inference, and Division Two remanded for a new jury 

trial.  

B. The trial court expressly gave the adverse-inference 
instruction as a remedy for spoliation, and Division 
Two properly regarded Explorations’ untimely 
producing a document as a red herring.  

The trial court gave the adverse-inference instruction 

specifically “to ameliorate the prejudice to Plaintiff resulting 

from Zidell’s authorization of destruction of historic business 

records regarding ownership of ships scrapped at [the] Zidell 

Dismantling facility during Mr. Woodruff’s employment there.”  

CP 4633 (CL 19(i)).   

Unrelated to the spoliation finding, albeit in the same 

order, the trial court sanctioned Explorations $15,000 for 

untimely producing the April 1969 board minutes.  CP 4633 

(CL 19(ii)–(iii)); see Ex. 304.  After initially concluding that the 

document was not responsive to Woodruff’s discovery requests, 

Explorations produced it two months before trial, the day before 
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Dismantling’s corporate secretary’s deposition, because the 

witness had reviewed the document.  CP 1895–97, 2105–

06.  Although the document supported Explorations’ position 

that it did not own the ships dismantled at Dismantling in 1970–

73, Woodruff inexplicably characterized it as a “smoking gun,” 

and the trial court sanctioned Explorations for producing it 

untimely.   CP 1531, 4633 (CL 19).  Although Explorations 

disputed this sanction, Explorations did not challenge it on 

appeal.   

Despite Woodruff’s unsupported assertions, nothing 

indicates that the trial court, contrary to its order, gave the 

adverse-inference instruction as a sanction for producing the 

board minutes untimely.  Nor would an adverse-inference 

instruction be an appropriate sanction for producing a document 

untimely, which does not clearly suggest “consciousness of a 

weak cause.”  Tyrrell, 80 Wn. App. at 609.   



 
 
 

ZIDELL EXPLORATIONS, INC.’S  
ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW  
AND CONDITIONAL CROSS-
PETITION – 27  
ZID001-0001 7197798 

 
 

Despite Woodruff’s assertion, Division One in Carroll did 

not generally approve adverse-inference instructions to sanction 

any type of discovery violation.  Like here, the trial court found 

that a party had authorized destroying relevant evidence (autopsy 

samples that could have been relevant to a defense to asbestos-

exposure liability).  Carroll, 22 Wn. App. 2d at 867–68.  As a 

remedy, the court struck the plaintiff’s complaint.  Id. at 876–78. 

On appeal, Division One reversed based on the lack of any 

general duty to preserve evidence in anticipation of litigation.  Id. 

at 868–76.  In the alternative, it held that even if the plaintiff 

breached some duty, the trial court abused its discretion in failing 

to properly consider the proposed lesser sanction of an adverse-

inference instruction.  Id. at 876–78.  Far from approving such 

instructions to remedy all manner of discovery violations, the 

court held that it could have been an appropriate remedy for 

alleged spoliation.  Id.   
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Here, too, the adverse-inference instruction could only 

have been appropriate to remedy the conduct it expressly 

targeted—spoliation.  But because spoliation did not occur, 

giving the instruction was prejudicial error.   

C. Division Two’s unpublished decision reversing because 
a spoliation finding was untenable does not limit 
courts’ discretion in choosing sanctions. 

Woodruff wrongly asserts that Division Two’s decision 

“improperly intrudes upon the trial court’s expansive authority 

to impose discovery sanctions.” Petition at 26 (initial caps 

omitted).  He premises this assertion entirely on the notion that 

the trial court imposed the adverse-inference instruction as a 

sanction for conduct other than spoliation.  See id. at 26–28.  

Division Two implicitly rejected that fallacy.  And despite 

Woodruff’s assertion, Division Two’s handling of the point 

neither conflicts with any appellate decision 

(RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2)) nor raises any issue of substantial public 

interest that this Court should decide (RAP 13.1(b)(4)).   
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V. ARGUMENT FOR CONDITIONAL CROSS-
REVIEW ON LACK OF DUTY OF CARE 

Division Two’s decision that Explorations owed 

Woodruff a duty of care conflicts with this Court’s decisions 

regarding retained control and the independent nature of 

corporations.  Review is conditionally warranted under 

RAP 13.4(b)(1) to resolve these conflicts.4   

A. An owner does not retain control merely by specifying 
the work it wants done. 

An owner generally owes no duty to protect a contractor’s 

employee from his own employer’s negligence.  Kamla v. Space 

Needle Corp., 147 Wn.2d 114, 119, 52 P.3d 472 (2002).  But 

under an exception to that rule, a duty may exist if the owner 

retained control over how the contractor performed its work.  Id. 

 
4 Woodruff’s assertion that “[l]iability for environmental 

contamination must logically and reasonably lead to liability for 
the injuries suffered by individuals exposed to that 
contamination,” Petition at 18, ignores multiple legal principles, 
including the separate nature of corporations, employer 
immunity, and the tort elements of duty, breach, and causation.    
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at 123–26.  In conflict with that binding precedent, Division Two 

held that a jobsite owner retains sufficient control to create a duty 

by merely specifying the work it wants done.  Slip Op. at 18.   

Division Two confused the right to specify the result with 

the right to control how the work is done.  See Kamla, 147 Wn.2d 

at 118, 121–22 (holding that an owner did not retain control by 

specifying where to install a fireworks display because the 

contractor was “free to do the work in its own way”); see also 

Morris v. Vaagen Bros. Lumber, Inc., 130 Wn. App. 243, 252, 

125 P.3d 141 (2005) (holding that an owner that directed a

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